

RECEIVED: July 8, 2016 Accepted: August 10, 2016 Published: August 31, 2016

Beyond the standard gauging: gauge symmetries of Dirac sigma models

Athanasios Chatzistavrakidis,^a Andreas Deser,^b Larisa Jonke^c and Thomas Strobl^d

- ^a Van Swinderen Institute for Particle Physics and Gravity, University of Groningen, Nijenborgh 4, 9747 AG Groningen, The Netherlands
- ^bInstitut für Theoretische Physik, Leibniz Universität Hannover, Appelstr. 2, 30167 Hannover, Germany
- ^cDivision of Theoretical Physics, Rudjer Bošković Institute, Bijenička 54, 10000 Zagreb, Croatia
- ^dInstitut Camille Jordan, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, 43 boulevard du 11 novembre 1918, 69622 Villeurbanne cedex, France

E-mail: a.chatzistavrakidis@rug.nl, andreas.deser@itp.uni-hannover.de, larisa@irb.hr, strobl@math.univ-lyon1.fr

ABSTRACT: In this paper we study the general conditions that have to be met for a gauged extension of a two-dimensional bosonic σ -model to exist. In an inversion of the usual approach of identifying a global symmetry and then promoting it to a local one, we focus directly on the gauge symmetries of the theory. This allows for action functionals which are gauge invariant for rather general background fields in the sense that their invariance conditions are milder than the usual case. In particular, the vector fields that control the gauging need not be Killing. The relaxation of isometry for the background fields is controlled by two connections on a Lie algebroid L in which the gauge fields take values, in a generalization of the common Lie-algebraic picture. Here we show that these connections can always be determined when L is a Dirac structure in the H-twisted Courant algebroid. This also leads us to a derivation of the general form for the gauge symmetries of a wide class of two-dimensional topological field theories called Dirac σ -models, which interpolate between the G/G Wess-Zumino-Witten model and the (Wess-Zumino-term twisted) Poisson sigma model.

KEYWORDS: Gauge Symmetry, Sigma Models, Differential and Algebraic Geometry

ARXIV EPRINT: 1607.00342

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	General gauge invariant 2D σ -models	5
	2.1 Gauge theory and invariance conditions for minimally-coupled gauge field	s 5
	2.2 Geometric interpretation and generalized Riemannian metric	7
	2.3 Inclusion of WZ term and non-minimally coupled gauge fields	9
3	Connections and gauge symmetries for Dirac structures	11
	3.1 Dirac structures and Dirac σ -models	11
	3.2 Constructing the connections ∇^{\pm} on Dirac structures	13
	3.3 General form of the gauge symmetries for DSMs	15
4	Application: Wess-Zumino Poisson σ -model	16
5	Summary of results and conclusions	19
\mathbf{A}	A direct proof for the gauge symmetries of the PSM	21
В	Structure functions for Dirac structures	23

1 Introduction

When does a problem, for example a variational one with some associated action functional, have a local symmetry? This is an interesting question due to the importance of local symmetries in nearly every corner of theoretical physics. Gauge theories exhibiting some local symmetry are usually related to the introduction of spacetime 1-forms (gauge fields) taking values in some Lie algebra $\mathfrak g$. This procedure has as starting point the identification of some global symmetry of the theory which is then promoted to a local one with the aid of these gauge fields. However, from a mathematical perspective, symmetries are associated to more general structures than groups and algebras. These structures are groupoids and algebroids (see the inspiring ref. [1]). The purpose of the present paper is to study some aspects of the role of Lie algebroid structures in the simple physical setting of two-dimensional bosonic σ -models. To this end we first present some material from our upcoming, more mathematically oriented work [2], as a basis and motivation for the new results presented in this paper.

Two-dimensional bosonic σ -models are based on maps $X=(X^i): \Sigma \to M, i=1,\ldots,\dim M$ from a two-dimensional source space Σ of Lorentzian or Euclidean signature to a target space M. These theories are interesting because they describe strings propagating

in target spacetimes M through the scalar fields X^{i} . The source space is equipped with a metric $h = (h_{\alpha\beta}), \alpha, \beta = 0, 1$, which is a dynamical field in the theory. Furthermore, since the massless NSNS spectrum of string theory contains a Riemannian metric $g = (g_{ij})$ on the target space M, an antisymmetric Kalb-Ramond 2-form $B = (B_{ij})$ and a scalar dilaton Φ , the relevant bosonic σ -model is

$$S[X,h] = \frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'} \int_{\Sigma} \frac{1}{2} g_{ij}(X) dX^{i} \wedge *dX^{j} + \frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'} \int_{\Sigma} \frac{1}{2} B_{ij}(X) dX^{i} \wedge dX^{j} + \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\Sigma} R\Phi *1, \quad (1.1)$$

where R is the world sheet curvature scalar.² This action depends on the world sheet metric h through the Hodge star operator *, with $*^2 = \mp 1$ for Euclidean and Lorentzian signature, respectively. Our first purpose then is to find a gauged extension of this action functional for as general background fields g(X) and B(X) as possible.

The motivation to consider gauged versions of the σ -model is twofold. The first motivation is the intention to derive new theories on quotient spaces [2], similarly to the case of gauging the Wess-Zumino-Witten (WZW) model whose target space is a group G [3]. When the gauging is along (the adjoint action of) a subgroup H of G one obtains the G/H WZW models, G/G being an extremal case [4, 5]. Another motivation to consider gauged σ -models is the study of target space duality in string theory. Recall that the celebrated Buscher rules relating two dual string backgrounds with Abelian isometries are derived by considering an intermediate gauge theory which reduces to the two dual actions upon integrating out different sets of fields, be they additional scalar fields (Lagrange multipliers) or the (non-dynamical) gauge fields that are coupled to the theory [6, 7]. A similar procedure may be followed in the case of non-Abelian isometries [8–11].

An important difference of our procedure with respect to the traditional gauging is that we follow an inverted logic. Instead of identifying global symmetries and then promoting them to local ones, we are looking for more general gauge invariant extensions of the action functional (1.1) for arbitrary background fields. The crucial difference is then that the invariance conditions for the background fields imposed in the case of a global symmetry are relaxed and replaced by much milder ones. This point of view was originally introduced in [12] and studied further in [13–16].

The above procedure amounts to a threefold generalization of the standard picture of gauged σ -models with \mathfrak{g} -valued gauge fields, minimally-coupled to the scalar degrees of freedom X^i and with strong invariance conditions on the background fields. The first generalization is that we allow the gauge fields to take values in some Lie algebroid L instead of a Lie algebra.³

A clear and physically motivated way to introduce this structure goes through the well-known Cartan problem. Following the lecture notes [19], in this problem we consider two functions C_{bc}^a and e_a^i defined on an open set $U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, with $a = 1, \ldots, r$ and $i = 1, \ldots, n$.

¹For the purposes of the present paper we are not going to consider fermions and supersymmetry but rather focus on the classical bosonic theory.

²Since the dilaton coupling contributes at one-loop rather than at leading order it will be ignored in most parts of the analysis, which will remain classical in this paper.

³This idea goes back to [17, 18] and, as seen only recently [2], can be generalized to just anchored bundles covering a foliation.

Then the aim of the problem is to determine (i) a manifold N, (ii) a set of 1-forms $\{e^a\}$ being a coframe on N, and (iii) a map $\varphi: N \to U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, such that the following two equations hold:

$$de^a = -\frac{1}{2}C^a_{bc}(\varphi)e^b \wedge e^c, \qquad (1.2)$$

$$d\varphi^i = e_a^i(\varphi)e^a \ . \tag{1.3}$$

Taking the exterior derivative on each side of each equation we directly obtain two necessary conditions,

$$C_{e[b}^{a}C_{cd]}^{e} = e_{[b}^{i}\partial_{i}C_{cd]}^{a}, (1.4)$$

$$2e^{j}_{[b}\partial_{j}e^{i}_{c]} = C^{a}_{bc}e^{i}_{a}, (1.5)$$

where here and in the following symmetrizations and antisymmetrizations of indices are taken with the corresponding weight. In the special case that the coefficients C^a_{bc} are constant, the right hand side of the first condition vanishes and the condition simply becomes the usual Jacobi identity for a Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . Moreover, we then can define the \mathfrak{g} -valued Maurer-Cartan form $e=e^ae_a\in\Omega^1(N,\mathfrak{g})$ which satisfies the famous Maurer-Cartan equation

$$de + \frac{1}{2}[e, e] = 0. (1.6)$$

However, when C_{bc}^a are not constant, but rather φ -dependent functions, one may address the problem in the following way, cf. [19]. First one considers a vector bundle L of rank r over U. L is equipped with a Lie bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]_L$ and C_{bc}^a become structure functions for this bracket, namely

$$[e_a, e_b]_L = C_{ab}^c(\varphi)e_c, \qquad (1.7)$$

for a basis of local sections $e_a \in \Gamma(L)$. Furthermore, a smooth map $\rho: L \to TU$ is introduced, mapping sections of L to vector fields. The bracket on L satisfies the Leibniz identity $[e, fe']_L = f[e, e']_L + \rho(e)fe'$, for $e, e' \in \Gamma(L)$ and $f \in C^{\infty}(U)$. Then eq. (1.5) is simply the statement that this map is a homomorphism:

$$(1.5) \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \rho([e_a, e_b]_L) = [\rho(e_a), \rho(e_b)] \ . \tag{1.8}$$

Moreover, eq. (1.4) simply states that:

$$(1.4) \Leftrightarrow \operatorname{Jac}(a, b, c) := [e_a, [e_b, e_c]_L]_L + (\operatorname{cyclic permutations}) = 0; \qquad (1.9)$$

in other words it is the Jacobi identity for the Lie bracket on L. The above triple $(L, [\cdot, \cdot]_L, \rho)$ is an example of a Lie algebroid. More generally, a Lie algebroid over a manifold M consists of a vector bundle L over M, equipped with a Leibniz-Lie bracket on its sections $\Gamma(L)$ and a bundle map $\rho: L \to TM$. Lie algebras are included in the definition; they are the corresponding structures in the case that the base manifold is just a point.

Returning to our discussion of the σ -model (1.1), let us take a step back and recall that given a set of vector fields $\rho_a = \rho_a^i(X)\partial_i$, the action (1.1) has a global symmetry of the form

$$\delta_{\epsilon} X^{i} = \rho_{a}^{i}(X)\epsilon^{a} \tag{1.10}$$

for rigid transformation parameters ϵ^a only under the following three invariance conditions:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rho_a} g = 0 \,, \quad \mathcal{L}_{\rho_a} B = \mathrm{d}\hat{\theta}_a \,, \quad \mathcal{L}_{\rho_a} \Phi = 0 \,,$$
 (1.11)

for some 1-form $\hat{\theta}_a$. Then ρ_a are Killing vector fields generating isometries for the metric g. They can be non-Abelian and satisfy an algebra

$$[\rho_a, \rho_b] = C_{ab}^c \rho_c$$
.

The symmetry is gauged through \mathfrak{g} -valued 1-forms $A = (A^a)$. The gauge parameters ϵ^a now depend on the world sheet coordinates (σ^α) and the gauge fields transform according to

$$\delta_{\epsilon} A^a = d\epsilon^a + C^a_{bc} A^b \epsilon^c \,, \tag{1.12}$$

which is the standard infinitesimal gauge transformation for non-Abelian gauge fields. Clearly, the above invariance conditions should also hold at the level of the gauged model, and in addition $\hat{\theta}_a$ has to be zero. The latter fact is related to the validity of minimal coupling and will be discussed below.

However, (1.11) are too strong and restrictive. We address this issue by following a more unorthodox route and asking the question

• Under which invariance conditions does the action functional (1.1) have a local symmetry $\delta_{\epsilon}X^{i} = \rho_{a}^{i}(X)\epsilon^{a}(\sigma)$ at leading order in α' ?

As already mentioned, the main difference is that we do not require a global symmetry to start with, thus allowing for more general background fields. To answer this question we are going to consider gauge fields taking values in a Lie algebroid

$$L \stackrel{\rho}{\to} TM$$
 . (1.13)

The analysis reveals that the invariance conditions (1.11) are replaced by the milder ones [2]

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rho_a} g = \omega_a^b \vee \iota_{\rho_b} g - \phi_a^b \vee \iota_{\rho_b} B \,, \tag{1.14}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rho_a} B = \omega_a^b \wedge \iota_{\rho_b} B \pm \phi_a^b \wedge \iota_{\rho_b} g \,, \tag{1.15}$$

where \vee is defined as the symmetric product $\alpha \vee \beta = \alpha \otimes \beta + \beta \otimes \alpha$ and \wedge as the antisymmetric one $\alpha \wedge \beta = \alpha \otimes \beta - \beta \otimes \alpha$, while $\omega_a^b = \omega_{ai}^b \mathrm{d} x^i$ and $\phi_a^b = \phi_{ai}^b \mathrm{d} x^i$ are 1-forms on M, where (x^i) is a local coordinate system on it. In a geometric interpretation of these relations we find that ω_a^b and ϕ_a^b in fact define two connections ∇^{\pm} on L. This is our second generalization.

Next let us return to the issue of minimal coupling. As mentioned above, when $\hat{\theta}_a$ in (1.11) is not zero, minimal coupling is not enough. This is certainly not a new observation. It is related to the presence of Wess-Zumino (WZ) terms and has been clarified in many works starting from [8, 9, 20] and more recently in [21, 22]. One of the main points is that when there is a WZ term one has to add terms in the gauged action which contain the gauge fields outside the covariant derivatives that are formed through minimal coupling. Then the gauging is obstructed by additional constraints on top of the previously mentioned invariance conditions. Revisiting this issue in the light of the two generalizations

we already mentioned leads us again to a set of milder conditions and constraints for WZ terms. Furthermore, it turns out that the target space of the gauged theory is lifted to the generalized tangent bundle $TM \oplus T^*M$ [2].⁴

A very interesting question arising from the above results is whether and when the new and milder invariance conditions for the gauging of the σ -model can be solved. We will show that when L is a Dirac structure, i.e. a particular type of Lie algebroid associated to the standard Courant algebroid on $TM \oplus T^*M$ twisted by a closed 3-form H, then the two Dirac structure connections solving the invariance conditions can be determined. Indeed we are going to provide general closed expressions for them. This is the central result of this paper. Additionally, it will allow us to find the form of the gauge symmetries for Dirac σ -models, which are very general two-dimensional topological field theories interpolating between WZW models and Poisson σ -models and they were introduced in [23, 24]. Our analysis will be complemented with an explicit example where we will apply our findings to the WZ Poisson σ -model with a kinetic term.

2 General gauge invariant 2D σ -models

In this section we present some of the material from [2] in a self-contained manner, since it is needed as a basis for the subsequent sections. This applies in particular to sections 2.1 and 2.3. Section 2.2, on the other hand, provides some relation of the obtained formulas to generalized geometry; for the complete picture of this we refer to [16].

2.1 Gauge theory and invariance conditions for minimally-coupled gauge fields

As explained in the introduction, our starting point is the bosonic sector of closed string theory at leading order in the string slope parameter α' . This is described by the following σ -model action:

$$S_0[X] = \int_{\Sigma} \frac{1}{2} g_{ij}(X) dX^i \wedge *dX^j + \int_{\Sigma} \frac{1}{2} B_{ij}(X) dX^i \wedge dX^j, \qquad (2.1)$$

where Σ is the 2D world sheet, $X = (X^i): \Sigma \to M, i = 1, \dots, n = \dim M$, is the map from the world sheet to the target space M and * denotes the Hodge duality operator on the world sheet. Here and in the following we work in units where $4\pi\alpha' = 1$. The background fields $g = g_{ij} dx^i \otimes dx^j = \frac{1}{2} g_{ij} dx^i \vee dx^j$ and $B = \frac{1}{2} B_{ij} dx^i \wedge dx^j$ are the metric and the antisymmetric Kalb-Ramond 2-form on M, where (x^i) are local coordinates on it. Then $g(X) = X^*g$ and $B(X) = X^*B$ are the pull-back metric and B-field by means of the map X. In what follows we ignore the dilaton coupling, which enters the action at linear order in α' .

Now we would like to find a gauged extension of the action (2.1) for as general X-dependent background fields g(X) and B(X) as possible. To this end we introduce a set of world sheet 1-forms A taking values in a Lie algebroid $L \xrightarrow{\rho} TM$. Let us denote local sections of L by e_a , $a = 1, \ldots, r$, r being the rank of the vector bundle L. These sections

⁴Cf. [13, 21] for the analogous result in a less general context.

are mapped via the smooth map ρ to a set of vector fields ρ_a :

$$L \xrightarrow{\rho} TM$$

$$e_a \mapsto \rho(e_a) := \rho_a = \rho_a^i(X)\partial_i . \tag{2.2}$$

Recalling that L is equipped with a bracket such that

$$[e_a, e_b]_L = C_{ab}^c(X)e_c,$$
 (2.3)

and the map ρ is a homomorphism, we deduce that the vector fields ρ_a satisfy

$$[\rho_a, \rho_b] = C_{ab}^c(X)\rho_c, \qquad (2.4)$$

the bracket being the standard Lie bracket of vector fields. As for the gauge fields $A = A^a e_a \in \Gamma(L)$, these are mapped to $\rho(A) \in \Gamma(TM)$. In this subsection we examine the case when these gauge fields are introduced in the theory through minimal coupling. In other words we promote the world sheet differential to a covariant one as

$$DX^{i} = dX^{i} - \rho_{a}^{i}(X)A^{a}, \qquad (2.5)$$

or in index-free notation $\mathrm{D}X=\mathrm{d}X-\rho(A)$. The map ρ need not be invertible and in general it is not. For example, if we choose to gauge the theory only along $d\leq n=\mathrm{dim}M$ directions of the target, then in adapted coordinates where the set of spacetime indices $\{i\}$ splits into $\{\mu,m\}$, for $\mu=1,\ldots,n-d$ and $m=n-d+1,\ldots,n$, we would have $\rho_a^\mu=0$ and consequently $\mathrm{D}X^\mu=\mathrm{d}X^\mu$. In any case, minimal coupling then means that the gauge fields appear in the gauged theory only through the covariant derivative $\mathrm{D}X^i$.

According to the above, the action we consider is

$$S_{\text{m.c.}}[X, A] = \int_{\Sigma} \frac{1}{2} g_{ij}(X) \mathrm{D}X^i \wedge *\mathrm{D}X^j + \int_{\Sigma} \frac{1}{2} B_{ij}(X) \mathrm{D}X^i \wedge \mathrm{D}X^j . \tag{2.6}$$

Then the question is under which conditions does this action have a gauge symmetry generated by the vector fields ρ_a , namely

$$\delta_{\epsilon} X^{i} = \rho_{a}^{i}(X) \epsilon^{a}(\sigma) , \qquad (2.7)$$

where $\epsilon^a \in C^{\infty}(\Sigma)$ is the gauge transformation parameter. This crucially depends on how the gauge fields A^a transform. Let us consider a general Ansatz for their gauge transformation:

$$\delta_{\epsilon} A^{a} = d\epsilon^{a} + C_{bc}^{a}(X) A^{b} \epsilon^{c} + \Delta A^{a}, \qquad (2.8)$$

where for the moment the additional term ΔA^a , which of course has to be a world sheet 1-form, is not specified. Now we can determine how the covariant derivative transforms under these gauge transformations. It is found that

$$\delta_{\epsilon} DX^{i} = \epsilon^{a} \partial_{j} \rho_{a}^{i} DX^{j} - \rho_{a}^{i} \Delta A^{a} . \qquad (2.9)$$

Requiring a covariant transformation rule for the covariant derivative motivates us to refine the Ansatz by writing

$$\Delta A^a = \omega_{bi}^a(X)\epsilon^b DX^i + \phi_{bi}^a(X)\epsilon^b * DX^i . \qquad (2.10)$$

First of all, let us mention that the addition of the second term is possible only in two dimensions, where the Hodge dual of an 1-form is also an 1-form. Second, the coefficients ω^a_{bi} and ϕ^a_{bi} are still undetermined functions defined locally on M and their geometric interpretation will be clarified in due course.

Next let us examine the behaviour of the action (2.6) under the above gauge transformations. A direct computation leads to the result

$$\delta_{\epsilon} S_{\text{m.c.}} = \int_{\Sigma} \epsilon^{a} \left(\frac{1}{2} \left(\mathcal{L}_{\rho_{a}} g \right)_{ij} DX^{i} \wedge *DX^{j} + \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathcal{L}_{\rho_{a}} B \right)_{ij} DX^{i} \wedge DX^{j} \right)$$
$$- \int_{\Sigma} \left(g_{ij} \rho_{a}^{i} \Delta A^{a} \wedge *DX^{j} + B_{ij} \rho_{a}^{i} \Delta A^{a} \wedge DX^{j} \right) . \tag{2.11}$$

It is directly observed that in case $\Delta A^a = 0$, namely when A^a transforms as a standard non-Abelian gauge field, the results reviewed in the introduction are immediately recovered. However, now a new possibility is revealed. Due to (2.10) the terms in the second line of the transformed action can compensate for the ones in the first line. Indeed, defining the 1-forms $\omega_b^a = \omega_{bi}^a \mathrm{d} x^i$ and $\phi_b^a = \phi_{bi}^a \mathrm{d} x^i$, the action functional is gauge invariant if and only if the following two conditions hold:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rho_a} g = \omega_a^b \vee \iota_{\rho_b} g - \phi_a^b \vee \iota_{\rho_b} B \,, \tag{2.12}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rho_a} B = \omega_a^b \wedge \iota_{\rho_b} B \pm \phi_a^b \wedge \iota_{\rho_b} g \,, \tag{2.13}$$

where the \pm sign is due to $*^2 = \mp 1$ and we recall that \vee denotes the symmetrized tensor product; thus for example $(\omega_b^a \vee \iota_{\rho_b} g)_{ij} = \omega_{ai}^b \rho_b^k g_{kj} + \omega_{aj}^b \rho_b^k g_{ki}$. Clearly (2.12) is a symmetric equation and (2.13) an antisymmetric one.

We observe that the action (2.6) can be gauge invariant under the transformation (2.7) without the vector fields ρ_a being Killing, i.e. without them generating isometries. This is true provided the gauge fields transform according to (2.8). Thus the resulting invariance conditions are milder than in the case of conventional gauging. Furthermore, it is worth noting that due to the additional term in (2.8), which is proportional to the Hodge dual covariant differential, the invariance conditions mix the metric and the Kalb-Ramond field. This is indicative of an interpretation in terms of generalized geometry, as we discuss immediately below.

2.2 Geometric interpretation and generalized Riemannian metric

Having found the extended invariance conditions (2.12) and (2.13) that guarantee gauge invariance of the action, we would like to explain the geometric role of the coefficients ω_{bi}^a and ϕ_{bi}^a . In order to understand their geometric interpretation let us examine what happens under a change of basis in the vector bundle L. First note that when we change the basis $e_a \to \Lambda(X)_a^b e_b$ the gauge field transforms as $A^a \to (\Lambda^{-1}(X))_b^a A^b$ so that $A = A^a e_a$

remains invariant. Next, from the transformation of (2.3) we determine the transformation properties of the structure functions $C_{bc}^a(X)$:

$$C_{bc}^a \to (\Lambda^{-1})_d^a \Lambda_b^e \Lambda_c^f C_{ef}^d + 2(\Lambda^{-1})_d^a \Lambda_{[b}^e \rho_{\underline{e}}^i \partial_i \Lambda_{c]}^d, \qquad (2.14)$$

where the underlined index does not participate in the antisymmetrization. We notice that the structure functions do not transform as tensors under the change of basis, as expected (cf. [14]).

Demanding that the form of the gauge transformation (2.8) does not change under the change of local basis we obtain the transformation properties of the coefficients ω_{bi}^a and ϕ_{bi}^a :

$$\omega_{bi}^a \to (\Lambda^{-1})_c^a \omega_{di}^c \Lambda_b^d - \Lambda_b^c \partial_i (\Lambda^{-1})_c^a, \qquad (2.15)$$

$$\phi_{bi}^a \to (\Lambda^{-1})_c^a \phi_{di}^c \Lambda_b^d$$
 (2.16)

It is directly observed that ϕ_b^a transforms as a tensor, however ω_b^a does not; it transforms instead as a connection, as noticed before in [14]. This means that ω_{bi}^a are the coefficients of a connection 1-form on L:

$$\nabla^{\omega} e_a = \omega_a^b \otimes e_b \,, \tag{2.17}$$

whilst ϕ_b^a are the components of an endomorphism-valued 1-form $\phi \in \Gamma(T^*M \otimes E^* \otimes E)$. Since the difference of any two connections on a vector bundle is such an endomorphism-valued 1-form on the manifold M, this essentially means that we have two connections on L, $\nabla = \nabla^{\omega}$ and $\widetilde{\nabla} = \nabla^{\omega} + \phi$. In fact it is more convenient to introduce the connections

$$\nabla^{\pm} = \nabla^{\omega} \pm \phi \,, \tag{2.18}$$

for the reason that is explained immediately below.

In order to gain a better geometrical understanding of the mixing of g and B in the invariance conditions (2.12) and (2.13), it is useful to consider the two maps

$$E^{\pm} := B \pm g : TM \to T^*M,$$
 (2.19)

defined via the interior product. Additionally, we define the combinations

$$(\Omega^{\pm})_h^a := (\omega \pm \phi)_h^a . \tag{2.20}$$

Then the two invariance conditions for the Lorentzian signature of the world sheet metric may be expressed as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rho_a} E^{\pm} = (\Omega^{\mp})_a^b \otimes \iota_{\rho_b} E^{\pm} - \iota_{\rho_b} E^{\mp} \otimes (\Omega^{\pm})_a^b . \tag{2.21}$$

This expression highlights the role of the two connections defined above. Moreover, let us recall from [25, 26] the role of the maps E^{\pm} . In generalized complex geometry one deals with structures on the generalized tangent bundle $TM \oplus T^*M$, whose structure group is O(n,n). A generalized Riemannian metric is a reduction of the structure group to $O(n) \times O(n)$ or equivalently a choice of a n-dimensional subbundle C_+ which is positive

definite with respect to the natural inner product on $TM \oplus T^*M$ and whose negativedefinite orthogonal complement is C_- . Then (cf. Proposition 6.6 in [25]) the subbundles C_{\pm} are identified with the graphs of the maps E^{\pm} . Using these data one can define a generalized metric $\mathcal{H}: TM \oplus T^*M \to TM \oplus T^*M$ on the generalized tangent bundle, which in terms of g and B takes the form

$$\mathcal{H} = \begin{pmatrix} -g^{-1}B & g^{-1} \\ g - Bg^{-1}B & Bg^{-1} \end{pmatrix}, \tag{2.22}$$

where g^{-1} is the inverse metric. We refer to [26] for more details, since we are not going to use this metric any more in this paper. However, it is important to keep in mind the appearance of the generalized tangent bundle since it will play an interesting role at the end of this section, after we discuss the inclusion of WZ terms in the theory.

2.3 Inclusion of WZ term and non-minimally coupled gauge fields

Let us now go one step further and include a WZ term in the σ -model action. Therefore the original ungauged action now is

$$S_{0,WZ}[X] = \int_{\Sigma} \frac{1}{2} g_{ij}(X) dX^{i} \wedge *dX^{j} + \int_{\hat{\Sigma}} \frac{1}{6} H_{ijk}(X) dX^{i} \wedge dX^{j} \wedge dX^{k}, \qquad (2.23)$$

where $\hat{\Sigma}$ is an open membrane world volume whose boundary is the world sheet Σ , $\partial \hat{\Sigma} = \Sigma$. As before $H(X) = X^*H$, where $H = \frac{1}{6}H_{ijk}\mathrm{d}x^i \wedge \mathrm{d}x^j \wedge \mathrm{d}x^k$ is a closed 3-form on M. This 3-form need not be exact at the global level, thus $H = \mathrm{d}B$ only locally. Before proceeding with our analysis, let us recall some well-known facts from the ordinary gauging of this action. First of all, in the presence of WZ terms minimal coupling of the gauge fields is not sufficient to guarantee a gauge invariant action. This means that terms with "bare" gauge fields, i.e. outside of covariant derivatives, have to be added to the topological sector of the action. On the other hand this is not necessary for the kinetic sector, where gauge fields can still enter through minimal coupling.⁵ Second, already in the isometric case the invariance conditions on the background fields do not automatically render the action gauge invariant. There are additional constraints that have to be met. This will be true also in our analysis here.

In order to address these issues in the more general context that we employ in this paper, we start from a candidate gauge action of the form

$$S_{\text{WZ}}[X, A] = \int_{\Sigma} \frac{1}{2} g_{ij}(X) DX^i \wedge *DX^j + \int_{\hat{\Sigma}} H(X) + \int_{\Sigma} A^a \wedge \theta_a + \int_{\Sigma} \frac{1}{2} \gamma_{ab} A^a \wedge A^b, \quad (2.24)$$

where $\theta_a = \theta_{ai}(X) dX^i$ are 1-forms and γ_{ab} functions on the target space M, both pulled back by $X : \Sigma \to M$. The covariant derivative DX^i is again defined as in (2.5), with gauge fields taking values in the vector bundle L. Once more we ask under which conditions this

⁵Of course it is possible to also consider non-minimally coupled kinetic terms but we do not see sufficient motivation for this in the context of the present paper. The investigation of the most general case will be presented in [2].

action is invariant under the gauge transformations (2.7) and (2.8), which we repeat here for completeness:

$$\delta_{\epsilon} X^{i} = \rho_{a}^{i}(X)\epsilon^{a}(\sigma), \qquad (2.25)$$

$$\delta_{\epsilon} A^{a} = d\epsilon^{a} + C_{bc}^{a}(X) A^{b} \epsilon^{c} + \omega_{bi}^{a}(X) \epsilon^{b} D X^{i} + \phi_{bi}^{a}(X) \epsilon^{b} * D X^{i} . \tag{2.26}$$

Transforming the action (2.24) under these gauge transformations we find

$$\delta_{\epsilon} S_{WZ} = \int_{\Sigma} \epsilon^{a} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathcal{L}_{\rho_{a}} g - \omega_{a}^{b} \vee \iota_{\rho_{b}} g - \phi_{a}^{b} \vee \theta_{b} \right)_{ij} DX^{i} \wedge *DX^{j} + \frac{1}{2} \left(\iota_{\rho_{a}} H - d\theta_{a} + \omega_{a}^{b} \wedge \theta_{b} \mp \phi_{a}^{b} \wedge \iota_{\rho_{b}} g \right)_{ij} DX^{i} \wedge DX^{j} + \left(\mathcal{L}_{\rho_{a}} \theta_{b} - C_{ab}^{c} \theta_{c} + \iota_{\rho_{b}} (\iota_{\rho_{a}} H - d\theta_{a}) + (\gamma_{bd} - \iota_{\rho_{b}} \theta_{d}) \omega_{a}^{d} \right)_{i} dX^{i} \wedge A^{b} + \left(\frac{1}{2} \mathcal{L}_{\rho_{a}} \gamma_{bc} + C_{ab}^{d} \gamma_{cd} - \frac{1}{2} \iota_{\rho_{c}} \iota_{\rho_{b}} (\iota_{\rho_{a}} H - d\theta_{a}) + (\gamma_{bd} - \iota_{\rho_{b}} \theta_{d}) \iota_{\rho_{c}} \omega_{a}^{d} \right) A^{b} \wedge A^{c} \right\} + \int_{\Sigma} (\gamma_{ab} - \iota_{\rho_{a}} \theta_{b}) (d\epsilon^{a} \wedge A^{b} + \epsilon^{c} \phi_{ci}^{b} DX^{i} \wedge *A^{a}) .$$

$$(2.27)$$

Gauge invariance is established when all five lines in the above result vanish. However, the third and the fifth line together imply the fourth one, while the fifth one itself states that $\gamma_{ab} = \iota_{\rho_a} \theta_b$. Thus we conclude that the functional (2.24) is invariant with respect to gauge transformations of the form (2.25) and (2.26) if and only if the following four equations hold true:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rho_a} g = \omega_a^b \vee \iota_{\rho_b} g + \phi_a^b \vee \theta_b \,, \tag{2.28}$$

$$\iota_{\rho_a} H = \mathrm{d}\theta_a - \omega_a^b \wedge \theta_b \pm \phi_a^b \wedge \iota_{\rho_b} g \,, \tag{2.29}$$

supplemented by the constraints

$$\iota_{\rho_a}\theta_b + \iota_{\rho_b}\theta_a = 0, \tag{2.30}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rho_a}\theta_b = C_{ab}^d\theta_d - \iota_{\rho_b}(\iota_{\rho_a}H - \mathrm{d}\theta_a) \ . \tag{2.31}$$

The last constraint can be rewritten in the form of a double contraction on H:

$$\iota_{\rho_b}\iota_{\rho_a}H = C_{ab}^d\theta_d + \mathrm{d}\iota_{\rho_{[a}}\theta_{b]} - 2\mathcal{L}_{\rho_{[a}}\theta_{b]}, \qquad (2.32)$$

an expression which will acquire a natural geometric interpretation below.

When both ω_b^a and ϕ_b^a vanish, the known results for the non-Abelian but isometric case are recovered [8–11, 21, 22]. However we observe that in general the conditions (2.28) and (2.29) as well as the additional constraint (2.31) are milder than in the standard case. (The constraint (2.30) remains the same though.)

Addendum on the geometric interpretation. The geometric interpretation of these results is similar to the minimally-coupled case; there are two connections ∇^{\pm} on L that control the gauging. However, in the present case the role of the generalized tangent bundle

is further clarified. Indeed, in the spirit of (2.2) for the map ρ , the 1-form θ_a may be associated to the following map θ from the vector bundle L to the cotangent bundle of M:

$$L \xrightarrow{\theta} T^*M$$

$$e_a \mapsto \theta(e_a) := \theta_a = \theta_{ai} dx^i . \tag{2.33}$$

Combining the two maps we obtain

$$L \stackrel{\rho \oplus \theta}{\to} TM \oplus T^*M$$

$$e_a \mapsto (\rho \oplus \theta)(e_a) := \rho_a + \theta_a = \rho_a^i \partial_i + \theta_{ai} dx^i . \tag{2.34}$$

This is reminiscent of a Courant algebroid structure on the generalized tangent bundle, in particular the H-twisted standard Courant algebroid. Local sections of $TM \oplus T^*M$ are generalized vectors $\xi_a = \rho_a + \theta_a$ and the corresponding bracket of sections is the Courant bracket

$$[\xi_a, \xi_b] = [\rho_a, \rho_b] + \mathcal{L}_{\rho_a} \theta_b - \mathcal{L}_{\rho_b} \theta_a - \frac{1}{2} d \left(\iota_{\rho_a} \theta_b - \iota_{\rho_b} \theta_a \right) - \iota_{\rho_a} \iota_{\rho_b} H . \tag{2.35}$$

Then the constraint (2.31) is interpreted as closure of this H-twisted Courant bracket for the generalized vectors ξ_a . This is more easily verified using the equivalent expression (2.32). Moreover, the constraint (2.30) is equivalent to the statement that the generalized vectors ξ_a have a vanishing non-degenerate symmetric bilinear form

$$\langle \xi_a, \xi_b \rangle = \iota_{\rho_a} \theta_b + \iota_{\rho_b} \theta_a . \tag{2.36}$$

In other words the two constraints require that ξ_a are sections of an involutive and isotropic subbundle of $TM \oplus T^*M$. (This was also noticed in a similar context in [13] and also in [22], where in the presence of additional scalar fields it was possible to relax the isotropy condition.) Such subbundles are called (small) Dirac structures and will be studied in more detail in the upcoming section.

3 Connections and gauge symmetries for Dirac structures

3.1 Dirac structures and Dirac σ -models

In the previous section we found that the extended invariance conditions (2.28) and (2.29) on the background fields, which are necessary for gauge invariance, are controlled by the coefficients ω_{bi}^a and ϕ_{bi}^a which give rise to two connections on the vector bundle L. A natural question is whether these coefficients can be determined explicitly, or in other words, whether we can really provide the corresponding connections. Furthermore, at the end of the last section we saw that the additional constraints obstructing the gauging of the σ -model are associated to a particular class of subbundles in the H-twisted Courant algebroid.

In order to study the construction of the two connections, we now focus on Dirac structures. As indicated already, these are maximal subbundles $D \subset TM \oplus T^*M$ of the generalized tangent bundle with the following two properties:

$$[\Gamma(D), \Gamma(D)] \subset \Gamma(D), \tag{3.1}$$

$$\langle \Gamma(D), \Gamma(D) \rangle = 0, \tag{3.2}$$

namely they are involutive with respect to the H-twisted Courant bracket and isotropic with respect to the symmetric bilinear form on the Courant algebroid. They were introduced in [27] as generalization of symplectic and Poisson structures. Maximality in this case means that their rank is half of the rank of $TM \oplus T^*M$. Moreover, since maximality is not indicated by any of the found constraints, one may define a small Dirac structure as being any subbundle satisfying the above two conditions. This definition first appeared in [13].

At the availability of a metric g on M, which is the case here, yet another parametrization of Dirac structures is possible, as explained in [23, 24]. Instead of referring to the generalized vectors $\xi_a = \rho_a + \theta_a$, one uses the Riemannian metric g to identify TM with T^*M and introduces an orthogonal operator $\mathcal{O} = \mathcal{O}^i{}_j \partial_i \otimes \mathrm{d} X^j \in \Gamma(\mathrm{End}(TM))$ whose graph is the Dirac structure D. The role of this operator is that for any element, say $v \oplus \eta$ with v a vector and η an 1-form, of the Dirac structure there exists a unique section \mathfrak{a} of TM such that

$$v \oplus \eta = (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})\mathfrak{a} \oplus ((\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O})\mathfrak{a})^*$$
, (3.3)

where the notation v^* and η^* for a vector field v or a 1-form η denotes the action of the metric or inverse metric that results in an 1-form or a vector field respectively, explicitly

$$v^* = (v^i \partial_i)^* = v^i g_{ij} dx^j , \quad \eta^* = (\eta_i dx^i)^* = \eta_i g^{ij} \partial_j . \tag{3.4}$$

Given a Dirac structure D one may uniquely construct a two-dimensional σ -model called Dirac σ -model (DSM) [23], which was introduced as a simultaneous generalization of the Poisson sigma model [28, 29] and the G/G WZW model. Its action functional is

$$S_{\text{DSM}}[X, v \oplus \eta] = \int_{\Sigma} \frac{1}{2} g_{ij}(X) DX^{i} \wedge *DX^{j} + \int_{\Sigma} \left(\eta_{i} \wedge dX^{i} - \frac{1}{2} \eta_{i} \wedge v^{i} \right) + \int_{\hat{\Sigma}} H, \quad (3.5)$$

where $v \oplus \eta \in \Omega^1(\Sigma, X^*D)$ and here we defined the world sheet covariant differential as $DX^i = dX^i - v^i$. In terms of the alternative parametrization introduced above, i.e., here with $\mathfrak{a} \in \Omega^1(\Sigma, X^*TM)$, an equivalent form of this action, already presented in ref. [23], is

$$S_{\text{DSM}}[X, \mathfrak{a}] = \int_{\Sigma} \frac{1}{2} g_{ij} \left(dX^{i} - (id - \mathcal{O})^{i}_{k} \mathfrak{a}^{k} \right) \wedge * \left(dX^{j} - (id - \mathcal{O})^{j}_{l} \mathfrak{a}^{l} \right) + \int_{\Sigma} \left((g_{ij} + \mathcal{O}_{ij}) \mathfrak{a}^{j} \wedge dX^{i} + \mathcal{O}_{ij} \mathfrak{a}^{i} \wedge \mathfrak{a}^{j} \right) + \int_{\hat{\Sigma}} H,$$

$$(3.6)$$

with indices lowered by means of the metric g. Even though there is a kinetic sector, this model turns out to be a topological field theory [23]. A non-topological field theory can be constructed by assuming instead a small (non-maximal) Dirac structure [13].

An interesting observation, already suggested in [13], albeit in a less general context, is that upon the relations

$$v = \rho(A) \Rightarrow v^i = \rho_a^i(X)A^a \text{ and } \eta = \theta(A) \Rightarrow \eta_i = \theta_{ai}(X)A^a,$$
 (3.7)

the action functional (2.24) takes the form (3.5). This relation among the two action functionals is very useful in constructing the desired connections and determining the general form of the gauge symmetries for the DSM (3.5). The latter were suggested without proof in the original publication [23], but here we will prove them at the end of this section.

3.2 Constructing the connections ∇^{\pm} on Dirac structures

Our interest now is to determine explicitly the two connections ∇^{\pm} in the case that both L=D and its image \widetilde{D} under the map $\rho \oplus \theta$ in (2.34) are Dirac structures in the H-twisted standard Courant algebroid.

First, it is useful to recall a lemma proven in [23] (Lemma 1), from which it follows that the operator

$$(id - \mathcal{O}) + b(id + \mathcal{O}), \qquad (3.8)$$

where b is positive or negative symmetric operator, is invertible. Then let us consider the sections $v \oplus \eta \in \Omega^1(\Sigma, X^*D)$ on the Dirac structure D and $\widetilde{v} \oplus \widetilde{\eta} \in \Omega^1(\Sigma, X^*\widetilde{D})$ on the Dirac structure \widetilde{D} . Recalling the parametrization in terms of the orthogonal operator, we parametrize D by \mathcal{O} and \widetilde{D} by $\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}$. These considerations allow us to write

$$v = (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})\mathfrak{a}, \quad \eta = ((\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O})\mathfrak{a})^*,$$
 (3.9)

and

$$\widetilde{v} = (\mathrm{id} - \widetilde{\mathcal{O}})\mathfrak{a}, \quad \widetilde{\eta} = \left((\mathrm{id} + \widetilde{\mathcal{O}})\mathfrak{a}\right)^*,$$
(3.10)

for some $\mathfrak{a} \in \Omega^1(\Sigma, X^*TM)$. Moreover by assumption it holds that

$$\widetilde{v} = \rho(v \oplus \eta), \quad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{\eta} = \theta(v \oplus \eta).$$
 (3.11)

These relations directly translate into

$$id - \widetilde{\mathcal{O}} = \rho \left((id - \mathcal{O}) + (id + \mathcal{O})^* \right), \tag{3.12}$$

$$id + \widetilde{\mathcal{O}} = (\theta ((id - \mathcal{O}) + (id + \mathcal{O})^*))^*, \qquad (3.13)$$

which in turn yield

$$\frac{1}{2}(\theta^* + \rho)\left((\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O}) + (\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O})^*\right) = \mathrm{id}\,,\tag{3.14}$$

$$\frac{1}{2}(\theta^* - \rho)\left((\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O}) + (\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O})^*\right) = \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}.$$
(3.15)

Now the right hand side of both equations is an invertible operator. Thus we conclude that the operators

$$\theta^* \pm \rho : D \to TM \,, \tag{3.16}$$

are invertible too, with inverses denoted as $(\theta^* \pm \rho)^{-1} : TM \to D$. We note in passing that certainly none of the maps ρ and θ^* are required to be invertible separately.

Now let us state and prove the main result of this section. For the vector bundles D and \widetilde{D} as above, the invariance conditions (2.28) and (2.29) are solved by the coefficients

$$\omega_{bi}^a = \Gamma_{bi}^a - \phi_{bi}^a + T_{bi}^a, \tag{3.17}$$

$$\phi_{bi}^{a} = [(\theta^* - \rho)^{-1}]_k^a \left(\mathring{\nabla}_i \rho_b^k - \rho_c^k T_{bi}^c\right), \qquad (3.18)$$

where Γ^a_{bi} are the coefficients of the Levi-Civita connection ∇^{LC} on D, $\mathring{\nabla}$ is the Levi-Civita connection on TM and

$$T_{bi}^{a} = [(\theta^* + \rho)^{-1}]_{k}^{a} \left(\mathring{\nabla}_{i} (\theta^* + \rho)_{b}^{k} - \frac{1}{2} \rho_{b}^{l} H_{li}^{k} \right), \qquad (3.19)$$

where one index of the 3-form H is raised by means of the metric g. This is proven by direct computations. Indeed the first invariance condition (2.28) holds because

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\rho_{a}}g)_{ij} = \rho_{a}^{k}\partial_{k}g_{ij} + 2g_{k(i}\partial_{j)}\rho_{a}^{k}$$

$$= \rho_{a}^{k}\mathring{\nabla}_{k}g_{ij} + 2\rho_{a}^{k}\Gamma_{k(i}^{l}g_{j)l} + 2g_{k(i}\mathring{\nabla}_{j)}\rho_{a}^{k} - 2g_{k(i}\Gamma_{j)l}^{k}\rho_{a}^{l} + 2g_{k(i}\Gamma_{j)a}^{b}\rho_{b}^{k}$$

$$= 2g_{k(i}\left(\mathring{\nabla}_{j)}\rho_{a}^{k} + \Gamma_{j)a}^{b}\rho_{b}^{k}\right)$$

$$= 2g_{k(i}\left((\theta^{*} - \rho)_{b}^{k}\phi_{aj}^{b} + \rho_{b}^{k}T_{aj}^{b} + \rho_{b}^{k}\omega_{aj}^{b} + \rho_{b}^{k}\phi_{aj}^{b} - \rho_{b}^{k}T_{aj}^{b}\right)$$

$$= 2g_{k(i}\left((\theta^{*})_{b}^{k}\phi_{aj}^{b} + \rho_{b}^{k}\omega_{aj}^{b}\right)$$

$$= 2g_{k(i}\left((\theta^{*})_{b}^{k}\phi_{aj}^{b} + \rho_{b}^{k}\omega_{aj}^{b}\right)$$

$$= \left(\omega_{a}^{b}\vee\iota_{\rho_{b}}g + \phi_{a}^{b}\vee\theta_{b}\right)_{ij}, \qquad (3.20)$$

as required. The second condition is proven as shown below, for Lorentzian world sheets:

$$\left(\iota_{\rho_{a}}H - d\theta_{a} + \omega_{a}^{b} \wedge \theta_{b} + \phi_{a}^{b} \wedge \iota_{\rho_{b}}g\right)_{ij} =$$

$$\stackrel{(3.17)}{=} \rho_{a}^{k}H_{kij} - 2\partial_{[i}\theta_{aj]} + 2(\Gamma_{a[i}^{b} + T_{a[i}^{b})\theta_{bj]} - 2\phi_{a[i}^{b}(\theta - \iota_{\rho}g)_{bj]} =$$

$$\stackrel{(3.18)}{=} \rho_{a}^{k}H_{kij} - 2\mathring{\nabla}_{[i}(\theta^{*} + \rho)_{a}^{k}g_{\underline{k}j]} + 2T_{a[i}^{b}\theta_{bj]} + 2\rho_{c}^{k}T_{a[i}^{c}g_{\underline{k}j]} =$$

$$\stackrel{(3.19)}{=} 0, \qquad (3.21)$$

as required.

Having found the coefficients ω_{bi}^a and ϕ_{bi}^a , it is now simple to write down the two connections ∇^{\pm} . Let $T(\rho) = T_a^b \otimes e^a \otimes \rho_b \in \Gamma(T^*M \otimes D^* \otimes TM)$ and denote by the same letters $(\theta^* \pm \rho)^{-1} \in \Gamma(T^*M \otimes D)$ the sections of the indicated bundle that correspond to the operators $(\theta^* \pm \rho)^{-1}$. Then

$$\nabla^{\omega} = \nabla^{LC} - \phi + T \,, \tag{3.22}$$

$$\phi = \iota_{(\mathring{\nabla} - T)(\rho)}(\theta^* - \rho)^{-1}, \tag{3.23}$$

where the contraction is among the single TM and T^*M indices of the corresponding sections. This leads directly to

$$\nabla^+ = \nabla^{LC} + T \,, \tag{3.24}$$

$$\nabla^{-} = \nabla^{LC} + T - 2\iota_{(\mathring{\nabla} - T)(\rho)}(\theta^* - \rho)^{-1} . \tag{3.25}$$

We close this section by providing an alternative formulation of the main result. In particular, having parametrized the Dirac structures in terms of orthogonal operators with the aid of the metric g, it is useful to express the connections ∇^{\pm} in terms of the operator

 \mathcal{O} whose graph is D. Clearly this is more transparent in the parametrization in terms of the unconstrained field $\mathfrak{a} = \mathfrak{a}^i \partial_i \in \Omega^1(\Sigma, X^*TM)$. Its gauge transformation $\delta_{\epsilon} \mathfrak{a}^i = \mathrm{d} \epsilon^i + C^i_{jk} \mathfrak{a}^j \epsilon^k + \omega^i_{jk} \epsilon^j \mathrm{D} X^k + \phi^i_{jk} \epsilon^j * \mathrm{D} X^k$ involves then the coefficients

$$\omega_{jk}^{i} = \Gamma_{jk}^{i} + \frac{1}{2} (\mathcal{O}^{-1})_{m}^{i} \nabla_{j} \mathcal{O}_{k}^{m} + \frac{1}{8} (\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O}^{-1})_{m}^{i} H_{jl}^{m} (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})_{k}^{l}, \qquad (3.26)$$

$$\phi_{jk}^{i} = -\frac{1}{2} (\mathcal{O}^{-1})_{m}^{i} \nabla_{j} \mathcal{O}_{k}^{m} + \frac{1}{8} (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O}^{-1})_{m}^{i} H_{jl}^{m} (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})_{k}^{l} . \tag{3.27}$$

In coordinate independent form the connections ∇^{\pm} are

$$\nabla^{+} = \nabla^{LC} + \frac{1}{2}H \left(id - \mathcal{O} \right) , \qquad (3.28)$$

$$\nabla^{-} = \nabla^{LC} - \iota_{(\mathring{\nabla} - \frac{1}{2}H)(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})} \mathcal{O}^{-1}, \qquad (3.29)$$

where $H(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O}) = \frac{1}{2} H^i_{jk} \mathrm{d} x^j \otimes (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^l_{i} \partial_l \otimes \mathrm{d} x^k \in \Gamma(T^*M \otimes TM \otimes T^*M)$ and $\mathcal{O}^{-1} \in \Gamma(T^*M \otimes TM)$. The contracted indices are the T^*M index of \mathcal{O} with the TM index of $(\mathring{\nabla} - \frac{1}{2}H)(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})$. Then along with $\delta_{\epsilon}X = (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})\epsilon$, the action functional (3.5) is gauge invariant. As a final note, let us observe that in case $\phi = 0$, namely when there is no term proportional to $*DX^i$ in the gauge transformation of the gauge field, there is only one connection on D and the result depends solely on $\theta^* + \rho$.

3.3 General form of the gauge symmetries for DSMs

Now we would like to finally determine the gauge symmetries for the DSM and show that they take the form suggested without proof in [23]. Note that we specialize here to the case $*^2 = 1$ as in the aforementioned paper.

Here we work in the parametrization of the Dirac structure in terms of the operator \mathcal{O} , using the unconstrained gauge field $\mathfrak{a} \in \Omega^1(\Sigma, X^*TM)$ instead of the constrained ones $v \oplus \eta \in \Omega^1(\Sigma, X^*D)$. Our purpose is then to determine $\delta_{\epsilon}\mathfrak{a}$. First of all, note that

$$\delta_{\epsilon}\mathfrak{a} = \left(\delta_{\epsilon}\mathfrak{a}^{i} + \Gamma_{jk}^{i}\mathfrak{a}^{j}\delta_{\epsilon}X^{k}\right)\partial_{i} = \left(\delta_{\epsilon}\mathfrak{a}^{i} + \Gamma_{jk}^{i}\mathfrak{a}^{j}(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{k}{}_{l}\epsilon^{l}\right)\partial_{i},\tag{3.30}$$

since $\delta_{\epsilon}X = (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})\epsilon$. Let us also recall that the gauge transformation for \mathfrak{a}^i is given as

$$\delta_{\epsilon} \mathfrak{a}^{i} = d\epsilon^{i} + C_{jk}^{i}(X)\mathfrak{a}^{j}\epsilon^{k} + \Delta \mathfrak{a}^{i}, \qquad (3.31)$$

where $\Delta \mathfrak{a}^i = \omega^i_{jk}(X)\epsilon^j \mathrm{D} X^k + \phi^i_{jk}(X)\epsilon^j * \mathrm{D} X^k$. Two additional relations that will prove useful are the form of the pull-back $\mathring{\nabla}^*$ of the Levi-Civita connection $\mathring{\nabla}$ to X^*TM ,

$$\mathring{\nabla}^* \epsilon = \left(d\epsilon^i + \Gamma^i_{jk} dX^j \epsilon^k \right) \partial_i, \qquad (3.32)$$

and the expression of the structure functions C_{jk}^i in terms of the operator \mathcal{O} , which is derived in the appendix:

$$C_{jk}^{i} = 2(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{l}{}_{[j}\Gamma_{k]l}^{i} + g^{il}g_{mn}\mathcal{O}^{n}{}_{[j}\mathring{\nabla}_{l}\mathcal{O}^{m}{}_{k]} + \frac{1}{2}H_{mn}^{i}(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{m}{}_{j}(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{n}{}_{k}, \qquad (3.33)$$

where the weighted antisymmetrization is applied only on the indices j and k. Substituting the above in (3.30) we obtain

$$\delta_{\epsilon} \mathfrak{a} = \mathring{\nabla}^{*} \epsilon + \left(-\Gamma^{i}_{jk} dX^{j} \epsilon^{k} + (id - \mathcal{O})^{l}_{j} \Gamma^{i}_{kl} \mathfrak{a}^{j} \epsilon^{k} + \Delta \mathfrak{a}^{i} \right) \partial_{i} +$$

$$+ \left(g^{il} g_{mn} (\mathcal{O}^{n}_{[j} \mathring{\nabla}_{l} \mathcal{O}^{m}_{k]} + \frac{1}{2} g^{il} H_{lmn} (id - \mathcal{O})^{m}_{j} (id - \mathcal{O})^{n}_{k} \right) \mathfrak{a}^{j} \epsilon^{k} \partial_{i} .$$
 (3.34)

Using that $\mathrm{D}X^i = \mathrm{d}X^i - (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^i{}_i\mathfrak{a}^j$ and rearranging terms, we obtain

$$\delta_{\epsilon}\mathfrak{a} = \mathring{\nabla}^{*}\epsilon - g\left(\mathcal{O}^{-1}\mathring{\nabla}(\mathcal{O})\mathfrak{a}, \epsilon\right)^{*} + (\Delta\mathfrak{a}^{i} - \Gamma^{i}_{jk}DX^{j}\epsilon^{k})\partial_{i} + \frac{1}{2}H\left((\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})\mathfrak{a}, (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})\epsilon, \cdot\right)^{*}.$$
(3.35)

The last step amounts to substituting the expressions for ω_{jk}^i and ϕ_{jk}^i given in (3.26) and (3.27) in $\Delta \mathfrak{a}^i$. A little algebra leads to the final result for the general form of the gauge transformation of \mathfrak{a} :

$$\delta_{\epsilon} \mathfrak{a} = \mathring{\nabla}^* \epsilon - g \left(\mathcal{O}^{-1} \mathring{\nabla} (\mathcal{O}) \mathfrak{a}, \epsilon \right)^* + \frac{1}{2} H((\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O}) \mathfrak{a}, (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O}) \epsilon, \cdot)^* +$$

$$+ \Theta \left(\frac{1}{2} H(\mathrm{D}X, (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O}) \epsilon, \cdot)^* + (1 - *) \mathring{\nabla}_{\mathrm{D}X} (\mathcal{O}) \epsilon \right), \qquad (3.36)$$

where we defined the operator

$$\Theta = \frac{1}{4}(id + \mathcal{O}^{-1}) + \frac{1}{4}(id - \mathcal{O}^{-1}) *$$
(3.37)

on $T^*\Sigma \otimes X^*TM$. This operator is the inverse of the operator $(\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O}) + (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^*$, denoted by T in ref. [23]. This is also proven in the appendix. Then (3.36) is indeed the desired form for the gauge transformation. Note that additional trivial gauge symmetries parametrized by an endomorphism $M \in \Gamma(\mathrm{End}(T^*\Sigma \otimes X^*TM))$, as explained in [23], may be included without any problem.

4 Application: Wess-Zumino Poisson σ -model

The Poisson sigma model is a typical example in the class of topological DSMs, whose target space is a Poisson manifold. An instructive way to obtain the model has ordinary 2D Yang-Mills theory as a starting point [29]:

$$S_{\rm YM}[A] = \int_{\Sigma} \frac{1}{2} F \wedge *F , \qquad (4.1)$$

where $F = (dA_i + \frac{1}{2}C_i^{jk}A_j \wedge A_k)e^i$ is the field strength of the gauge field $A = A_ie^i$ and $\{e^i\}$ are the generators of the gauge algebra. In the first order formalism we introduce conjugate variables X^i to the gauge field A_i and rewrite the action as

$$S_{YM}[X, A] = \int_{\Sigma} \frac{1}{2} \left(X^i F_i - \frac{1}{2} (X^i)^2 * 1 \right) .$$
 (4.2)

Inserting the field equation for X^i into the action (4.2) reproduces the original action (4.1) by construction. Here, however, we are interested in the topological sector of the action (4.2), i.e. omitting the potential term, which can be rewritten (on a world sheet without boundary and with a rescaling by a factor of 2) as

$$S_{\text{top}}[X, A] = \int_{\Sigma} \left(A_i \wedge dX^i + \frac{1}{2} \pi^{ij}(X) A_i \wedge A_j \right) . \tag{4.3}$$

Taking this action as a starting point we interpret X^i as pull-back coordinates on the target Poisson manifold M with Poisson structure $\pi = \frac{1}{2}\pi^{ij}(x)\partial_i \wedge \partial_j$ and the gauge fields A_i as 1-forms on the world-sheet; thus we obtain the topological Poisson σ -model (PSM) [28, 29].

In the following we are going to discuss the extension of the model that includes a WZ term [30, 31]. The topological action corresponding to the WZPSM is

$$S_{\text{WZPSM}}[X, A] = \int_{\Sigma} \left(A_i \wedge dX^i + \frac{1}{2} \pi^{ij}(X) A_i \wedge A_j \right) + \int_{\hat{\Sigma}} H(X), \qquad (4.4)$$

for an antisymmetric 2-vector π and a 3-form H. The symmetries of the model naturally descend from the gauge symmetry of the Yang-Mills action (4.1). For non-zero closed 3-form H the action (4.4) is invariant under

$$\delta_{\epsilon} X^{i} = \pi^{ji} \epsilon_{j} ,$$

$$\delta_{\epsilon} A_{i} = d\epsilon_{i} + \partial_{i} \pi^{jk} A_{j} \epsilon_{k} - \frac{1}{2} H_{ijk} \pi^{kl} \epsilon_{l} (dX^{j} - \pi^{jm} A_{m}) ,$$

$$(4.5)$$

provided that the following condition

$$\pi^{il}\partial_l \pi^{jk} + \operatorname{cycl}(ijk) = H_{i'j'k'} \pi^{i'i} \pi^{j'j} \pi^{k'k}, \qquad (4.6)$$

holds [13]. One immediately recognizes this condition as the integrability condition for the Dirac structure given by the graph of the 2-vector π , with the bracket on sections of T^*M twisted by the closed 3-form H [30, 31]. Integrability conditions for more general Dirac structures were derived in [32].

In the spirit of (3.5) we now add a kinetic term and consider the action

$$S_{g\text{WZPSM}}[X, A] = \int_{\Sigma} \left(A_i \wedge dX^i + \frac{1}{2} \pi^{ij} A_i \wedge A_j \right) + \int_{\Sigma} \frac{1}{2} g_{ij}(X) DX^i \wedge *DX^j + \int_{\hat{\Sigma}} H(X),$$
(4.7)

with the covariant differential being

$$DX^i = dX^i + \pi^{ij}A_j . (4.8)$$

From the perspective of our approach, the relation to the general action for a DSM (3.5) is established upon the identifications

$$\eta_i = A_i \quad \text{and} \quad v^i = \pi^{ji} A_j .$$
(4.9)

More specifically, the vector bundle L is taken to be the cotangent bundle $L = T^*M$ and the maps $\rho: T^*M \to TM$ and $\theta: T^*M \to T^*M$ are

$$\rho = \pi^{\sharp} \quad \text{and} \quad \theta = \text{id} \implies \theta^* = g^{-1},$$
(4.10)

with the former acting by contraction with π on its first index. The gauge field is valued in the (twisted) Lie algebroid $(T^*M, [\cdot, \cdot]_{KS}, \pi^{\sharp})$, where the bracket is given by the H-twisted Koszul-Schouten bracket on 1-forms $\alpha, \widetilde{\alpha}$

$$[\alpha, \widetilde{\alpha}]_{KS} := \mathcal{L}_{\pi^{\sharp}(\alpha)} \widetilde{\alpha} - \iota_{\pi^{\sharp}(\widetilde{\alpha})} d\alpha - H(\pi^{\sharp}(\widetilde{\alpha}), \pi^{\sharp}(\alpha), \cdot) . \tag{4.11}$$

In a basis $\{e^i\}$ of local sections of T^*M the bracket closes with a set of structure functions:

$$[e^i, e^j]_{KS} = C_k^{ij}(X)e^k,$$
 (4.12)

this being (1.7) specialized in the present case. These structure functions are found to be (cf. [13])

$$C_k^{ij} = \partial_k \pi^{ij} + H_{kmn} \pi^{mi} \pi^{nj} . (4.13)$$

Then the action (4.7) is invariant under the infinitesimal gauge transformations

$$\delta_{\epsilon} X^{i} = \pi^{ji} \epsilon_{j}$$

$$\delta_{\epsilon} A_{i} = d\epsilon_{i} + C_{i}^{jk} A_{i} \epsilon_{k} + \omega_{ik}^{j} \epsilon_{j} D X^{k} + \phi_{ik}^{j} \epsilon_{j} * D X^{k}, \qquad (4.14)$$

provided that the invariance conditions (2.28) and (2.29) and the constraints (2.30) and (2.31) hold. In particular the transformation of the gauge field takes the equivalent form

$$\delta_{\epsilon} A_i = d\epsilon_i + \partial_i \pi^{jk} A_j \epsilon_k + H_{imk} \pi^{mn} \pi^{kl} A_n \epsilon_l + \omega_{ik}^j \epsilon_j DX^k + \phi_{ik}^j \epsilon_j * DX^k . \tag{4.15}$$

Regarding the constraints, (2.30) is identically satisfied due to the antisymmetry of π , while (2.31) is also satisfied due to (4.13). As for the invariance conditions, the solution for the coefficients ω^i_{jk} and ϕ^i_{jk} can be read off the general formulae (3.17), (3.18) and (3.19). Substitution of (4.10) in (3.19) directly gives

$$T_{ij}^{k} = (g^{-1} + \pi)_{li}^{-1} \left(\mathring{\nabla}_{j} \pi^{kl} - \frac{1}{2} \pi^{km} H_{mj}^{l} \right) . \tag{4.16}$$

Then (3.18) yields

$$\phi_{ij}^{k} = (g^{-1} - \pi)_{li}^{-1} \left(\mathring{\nabla}_{j} \pi^{kl} - \pi^{ml} T_{mj}^{k}\right)$$

$$= (g^{-1} - \pi)_{li}^{-1} \left(\mathring{\nabla}_{j} \pi^{kl} - \pi^{ml} (g^{-1} + \pi)_{nm}^{-1} \mathring{\nabla}_{j} \pi^{kn} + \frac{1}{2} \pi^{ml} \pi^{kp} (g^{-1} + \pi)_{nm}^{-1} H_{pj}^{n}\right)$$

$$= (g^{-1} - \pi)_{li}^{-1} (g^{-1} + \pi)_{nm}^{-1} \left[\left((g^{-1} + \pi)^{ml} - \pi^{ml}\right) \mathring{\nabla}_{j} \pi^{kn} + \frac{1}{2} \pi^{ml} \pi^{kp} H_{pj}^{n}\right]$$

$$= (g^{-1} - \pi)_{li}^{-1} (g^{-1} + \pi)_{nm}^{-1} \left(g^{ml} \mathring{\nabla}_{j} \pi^{kn} + \frac{1}{2} \pi^{ml} \pi^{kp} H_{pj}^{n}\right)$$

$$= (g^{-1} - \pi)_{li}^{-1} (g^{-1} + \pi)_{nm}^{-1} \left(g^{ml} \left(\mathring{\nabla}_{j} \pi^{kn} - \frac{1}{2} \pi^{kp} H_{pj}^{n}\right) + \frac{1}{2} (g^{-1} + \pi)^{ml} \pi^{kp} H_{pj}^{n}\right) .$$

Using the following relations:

$$(g^{-1} - \pi)_{li}^{-1}(g^{-1} + \pi)_{nm}^{-1} g^{ml} = [(1 - g\pi g\pi)^{-1}]_{i}^{k} g_{kn}, \qquad (4.18)$$

$$(g^{-1} \pm \pi)_{ik}^{-1} = g_{ij} (1 \mp \pi g)_l^j [(1 - g\pi g\pi)^{-1}]_k^l, \qquad (4.19)$$

we can rewrite ϕ_{ij}^k as

$$\phi_{ij}^{k} = -\left[(1 - g\pi g\pi)^{-1} \right]_{i}^{l} g_{lm} \left(\mathring{\nabla}_{j} \pi^{mk} + \frac{1}{2} H_{jnp} \pi^{nm} \pi^{pk} \right) . \tag{4.20}$$

As for ω_{ij}^k , from (3.17) we find

$$\omega_{ij}^{k} = \Gamma_{ij}^{k} - \phi_{ij}^{k} + T_{ij}^{k}
= \Gamma_{ij}^{k} + [(1 - g\pi g\pi)^{-1}]_{i}^{l} g_{lm} \left(\mathring{\nabla}_{j} \pi^{mk} + \frac{1}{2} H_{jnp} \pi^{nm} \pi^{pk}\right) +
+ (g^{-1} + \pi)_{li}^{-1} \left(\mathring{\nabla}_{j} \pi^{kl} - \frac{1}{2} \pi^{km} H_{mj}^{l}\right).$$
(4.21)

Again using the relation (4.19) one obtains:

$$\omega_{ij}^{k} = \Gamma_{ij}^{k} + g_{il}\pi^{lm}\phi_{mj}^{k} + \frac{1}{2}\pi^{kl}H_{lij} . \tag{4.22}$$

Summarizing, the sought-for coefficients are found to be

$$\omega_{ik}^{j} = \Gamma_{ik}^{j} + g_{il}\pi^{lm}\phi_{mk}^{j} + \frac{1}{2}\pi^{jl}H_{lik}, \qquad (4.23)$$

$$\phi_{ik}^{j} = -[(1 - g\pi g\pi)^{-1}]_{i}^{l}g_{lm}\left(\mathring{\nabla}_{k}\pi^{mj} + \frac{1}{2}H_{knp}\pi^{nm}\pi^{pj}\right). \tag{4.24}$$

Finally, let us mention for completeness that the relevant orthogonal operator \mathcal{O} for the Dirac structure considered here has the form (cf. [23])

$$\mathcal{O} = (1 - \pi g)(1 + \pi g)^{-1}, \tag{4.25}$$

where πg is understood as a map from TM to itself acting as $\pi g(v^i \partial_i) = \pi^{ij} g_{jk} v^k \partial_i$. Then

$$id - \mathcal{O} = 2\pi g (1 + \pi g)^{-1},$$
 (4.26)

$$id + \mathcal{O} = 2(1 + \pi g)^{-1},$$
 (4.27)

and we can relate the gauge field $A \in \Omega^1(\Sigma, X^*T^*M)$ to the gauge field $\mathfrak{a} \in \Omega^1(\Sigma, X^*TM)$ by means of (3.3), which yields

$$\mathfrak{a}^i = -\frac{1}{2}(g^{-1} + \pi)^{ij}A_j \ . \tag{4.28}$$

5 Summary of results and conclusions

Our main purpose in this work was to study the gauge symmetries of two-dimensional bosonic σ -models beyond the standard approach. Thus we considered the bosonic string σ -model at leading order in α' and asked under which conditions it can be extended by gauge fields $A \in \Gamma(L)$, L being a Lie algebroid, such that it has a gauge symmetry $\delta_{\epsilon}X^{i} = \rho_{a}^{i}(X)\epsilon^{a}(\sigma)$ for a set of non-Abelian vector fields $\rho_{a} = \rho_{a}^{i}\partial_{i}$. These vector fields are obtained as the image of some local basis of sections of L under a homomorphism $\rho: L \to TM$. The analysis, which will be presented in a more general context in [2], leads to the following results:

- 1. In case the gauge fields are minimally-coupled to the theory, the gauging of the σ model is possible under the conditions (2.12) and (2.13). These conditions relax the
 strict invariance required in the ordinary case.
- 2. In the presence of Wess-Zumino terms, the gauging of the σ -model is possible when the conditions (2.28) and (2.29) supplemented by the constraints (2.30) and (2.31) hold. Once more, these conditions are milder than in the ordinary gauging. Moreover, the effective target space is the generalized tangent bundle $TM \oplus T^*M$.

Applying the above results led us to the main new results of the present paper:

- 3. Geometrically, the gauging is controlled by two connections ∇^{\pm} on the Lie algebroid L. In case L and its image under the map $\rho \oplus \theta \colon L \to TM \oplus T^*M$ are Dirac structures, namely maximally isotropic and involutive subbundles in the H-twisted standard Courant algebroid, these connections are given by the formulae (3.24) and (3.25).
- 4. The gauge symmetries of Dirac σ -models, constructed as general topological field theories based on Dirac structures, take the general form (3.36).

Moreover these general results were applied to the case of the WZ-twisted Poisson σ -model with an auxiliary kinetic term, thus enabling us to determine the most general gauge symmetries for this model.

From these results one can conclude that two-dimensional σ -models can have richer gauge structure than one would expect, at least at the classical level. This can be useful either in studies of gauge theory in itself or in other contexts such as T-duality. Often the study of T-dual backgrounds is facilitated by gauge theory [6, 33], however this requires background geometries that contain isometries. The investigation of T-duality without isometries was initiated in refs. [15, 34] in a somewhat less general formulation than the one presented here. A challenging task is to examine whether this more general formulation can be applied to conformal string backgrounds that break isometries. Additionally, it is worth trying to understand the relation of our approach to Poisson-Lie T-duality, which is a technique that also does not require isometries [35–38]. Furthermore, the geometric interpretation of our results reveals relations to generalized geometry. For example the effective target space of the gauged σ -models turns out to be the generalized tangent bundle $TM \oplus T^*M$. Extended targets for σ -models have been considered before, for example in [39–45] and more recently in [46–48]. Notably, the relevance of the cotangent bundle was highlighted in [46] and also in [47] in the context of Courant σ -models. It is interesting to explore further geometric aspects of such models through the gauging procedure employed here.

Acknowledgments

A. Ch. would like to thank V. Penas, E. Plauschinn, L. Romano, E. Saridakis and K. Sfetsos for discussions and suggestions. A.D. wants to thank J. Stasheff and D. Berman for discussion and the Erwin Schroedinger Institute in Vienna for hospitality. We acknowledge support by COST (European Cooperation in Science and Technology) in the framework

of the Action MP1405 QSPACE. The work of L.J. and A. Ch. was supported by Croatian Science Foundation under the project IP-2014-09-3258.

A A direct proof for the gauge symmetries of the PSM

As an independent check of the results obtained in the main text, in this appendix we provide a direct proof of the gauge symmetries (3.36) for the purely Poisson sigma model, i.e. with H=0. We consider maps $X:\Sigma\to M$ for (M,π) a Poisson manifold. There is a canonical Lie algebroid structure $(T^*M,[\cdot,\cdot]_{KS},\pi^{\sharp})$ with anchor given on standard basis elements by $\pi^{\sharp}(\mathrm{d}x^i)=\pi^{ik}\partial_k$. For convenience in reading we recall the gauging conditions in this case:

Gauging conditions. For $X : \Sigma \to M$ and (M, π) a Poisson manifold, consider world sheet 1-forms $A_i \in \Omega^1(\Sigma, X^*T^*M)$. Then the action of the Poisson sigma model

$$S_{\text{PSM}}[X, A] = \int_{\Sigma} \left(A_i \wedge dX^i + \frac{1}{2} \pi^{ij} A_i \wedge A_j \right) + \int_{\Sigma} \frac{1}{2} g_{ij}(X) DX^i \wedge *DX^j,$$
 (A.1)

with $\mathrm{D}X^i = \mathrm{d}X^i - \pi^{ki}A_k$, is invariant under the transformation

$$\delta_{\epsilon} X^{i} = \pi^{ki} \epsilon_{k} ,$$

$$\delta_{\epsilon} A_{i} = d\epsilon_{i} + \partial_{i} \pi^{jk} A_{i} \epsilon_{k} + \Delta A_{i} ,$$
(A.2)

if the following conditions on M hold for $\Delta A_i = -\epsilon_k \omega_{ij}^k \mathrm{D} X^j + \epsilon_k \phi_{ij}^k * \mathrm{D} X^j$:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\pi^{\sharp} dx^{i}} g = \omega_{j}^{i} \vee \iota_{\pi^{\sharp} dx^{j}} g + \phi_{j}^{i} \vee dx^{j} ,$$

$$0 = -\omega_{j}^{i} \wedge dx^{j} \pm \phi_{j}^{i} \wedge \iota_{\pi^{\sharp} dx^{j}} g .$$
(A.3)

The goal of this appendix is to give a solution to the conditions (A.3) for ϕ and ω , use them to rewrite the variation (A.2) of X and A and confirm that they coincide with the form given in the literature (prop.7 of [23]) and also found in section 3.3, specialized to the case of vanishing WZ term. Let us first recall that in the case of the PSM, the operator \mathcal{O} is uniquely determined by the metric and Poisson tensor, (4.25) and (4.26). In particular the map $\pi g: TM \to TM$ is given as the Cayley transform of the operator \mathcal{O} is given by

$$\bar{\mathcal{O}} = (1 - \mathcal{O})(1 + \mathcal{O})^{-1} = \pi g.$$
 (A.4)

With these preparations, we can give a solution to the conditions (A.3), as they were already formulated in the main text, (4.23), and are used here for an independent proof:

$$\omega_{mn}^{i} = \Gamma_{mn}^{i} + g_{mk} \pi^{kr} \phi_{rn}^{i} ,
\phi_{mn}^{i} = \left[(1 - g \pi g \pi)^{-1} \right]_{n}^{k} (\mathring{\nabla}_{m} \bar{\mathcal{O}})^{i}_{k} .$$
(A.5)

⁶To distinguish the coordinates on M from the maps X^i , we denote them by x^i .

We now use these solutions in the variation of the fields X and A. To compare the variations with the literature, we first introduce ϵ^m as $\epsilon_k = -2(g^{-1} + \pi)_{km}^{-1} \epsilon^m$ and note that the 1-forms A_i are related to the 1-forms \mathfrak{a}^i of [23] by $\mathfrak{a}^k = -\frac{1}{2}(g^{-1} + \pi)^{kr}A_r$, i.e. the variation of the \mathfrak{a}^k is determined by

$$-\delta_{\epsilon}\mathfrak{a}^{k} = \frac{1}{2}\partial_{m}\left(g^{-1} + \pi\right)^{kr}\delta_{\epsilon}X^{m}A_{r} + \frac{1}{2}\left(g^{-1} + \pi\right)^{kr}\delta_{\epsilon}A_{r}. \tag{A.6}$$

Expressing the variations of X^i and A_k in terms of ϵ^k and \mathfrak{a}^k together with the solutions for ω and ϕ , we arrive at the following intermediate result:

Observation A.1 The variations of the fields X^i and \mathfrak{a}^k are given by

$$\delta_{\epsilon} X^{i} = (1 - \mathcal{O})^{i}{}_{k} \epsilon^{k} ,$$

$$-\delta_{\epsilon} \mathfrak{a}^{k} = 2 \Big(-\pi^{mp} \partial_{m} (g^{-1} + \pi)^{kn} + (g^{-1} + \pi)^{km} \partial_{m} \pi^{np} \Big) (g^{-1} + \pi)^{-1}{}_{pq} \epsilon^{q} (g^{-1} + \pi)^{-1}{}_{nr} \mathfrak{a}^{r}$$

$$- d\epsilon^{k} - (g^{-1} + \pi)^{km} \partial_{p} (g^{-1} + \pi)^{-1}{}_{mn} \epsilon^{n} dX^{p}$$

$$+ (g^{-1} + \pi)^{kr} (g^{-1} + \pi)^{-1}{}_{pm} \epsilon^{m} \Gamma^{p}{}_{rn} DX^{n}$$

$$- (g^{-1} + \pi)^{kr} (g^{-1} + \pi)^{-1}{}_{pm} \epsilon^{m} (-g_{rq} \pi^{qs} + \delta^{s}_{r} \otimes *) \phi^{p}{}_{sn} DX^{n} .$$
(A.7)

We now transform the result of the previous observation, to be compared with (3.36) and the result of [23]. We need the explicit form of the operator Θ given in (3.37) for the case of PSM:

$$\Theta = \frac{1}{2}(g^{-1} + \pi)g(1 - \pi g\pi g)^{-1}(1 - \pi g \otimes *).$$
 (A.8)

Furthermore, we use the fact that the derivative of the Cayley transform of \mathcal{O} is given by

$$\mathring{\nabla}_n \bar{\mathcal{O}} = 2(1+\mathcal{O})^{-1} (\mathring{\nabla}_n \mathcal{O})(1+\mathcal{O})^{-1} . \tag{A.9}$$

With the help of the latter, we can write the last line of (A.7) in the form

$$-\frac{1}{2}(g^{-1}+\pi)^{kr}g_{mq}\left((\mathcal{O}^{-1}\mathring{\nabla}_n\mathcal{O})(1-\bar{\mathcal{O}})^{-1}\right)^q_s(\mathrm{id}+\bar{\mathcal{O}}-\mathrm{id}+\mathrm{id}\otimes *)^s_r\epsilon^m\,\mathrm{D}X^n\;. \quad (\mathrm{A}.10)$$

This expression has two terms. The one multiplying with $(id - id \otimes *)$ gives, after noting that $\mathcal{O}^t = g\mathcal{O}^{-1}g^{-1}$, due to the orthogonality of \mathcal{O} with respect to the metric g, the desired expression. The second term is contracting with DX^n and ϵ^p and can be added to the third line of (A.7). We arrive at

$$-\delta_{\epsilon}\mathfrak{a}^{k} = -\Theta(\operatorname{id} - \operatorname{id} \otimes *)\mathring{\nabla}_{\mathrm{D}X}(\mathcal{O})\epsilon$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \left(-\pi^{mp} \partial_{m} (g^{-1} + \pi)^{kr} + (g^{-1} + \pi)^{km} \partial_{m} \pi^{rp} \right) \left(g(1 + \mathcal{O}) \right)_{pn} \epsilon^{n} \left(g(1 + \mathcal{O}) \right)_{rq} \mathfrak{a}^{q}$$

$$- d\epsilon^{k} - \left((1 + \mathcal{O})^{-1} g^{-1} \right)^{kr} \partial_{p} \left(g(1 + \mathcal{O}) \right)_{rn} \epsilon^{n} dX^{p}$$

$$+ \left((1 + \mathcal{O})^{-1} g^{-1} \right)^{kr} \left(g(1 + \mathcal{O}) \right)_{pn} \epsilon^{n} \Gamma^{p}_{rm} DX^{m} ,$$

$$- \left((1 + \mathcal{O})^{-1} g^{-1} \right)^{kr} \left(\mathcal{O}^{-1} (\mathring{\nabla}_{DX} \mathcal{O}) (1 - \bar{\mathcal{O}})^{-1} (1 + \bar{\mathcal{O}}) \right)^{q}_{r} g_{qn} \epsilon^{n} .$$
(A.11)

As a next step, we observe that when replacing ∂_p by $\mathring{\nabla}_p$ in the third line of (A.11), we have to subtract the two missing Christoffel terms, one of which is of the form $-\Gamma_{pn}^k \, \mathrm{d} X^p \, \epsilon^n$ (i.e. combines with $-\mathrm{d}\epsilon^k$ to $-\mathring{\nabla}^*\epsilon^k$), and the other one adds to the fourth line of (A.11), transforming $\mathrm{D} X^n$ to $\pi^{nm} A_m$ there. Furthermore, in the last line, we use the definition of the Cayley transform and orthogonality of \mathcal{O} w.r.t. the metric g to simplify. Finally, in the first line, we use that π is Poisson, i.e. $\pi^{im} \partial_m \pi^{jk} + \mathrm{cycl}^{ijk} = 0$ to simplify the terms with two Poisson tensors. We also note, that one of the terms with one metric and one Poisson tensor is precisely the term $g(\mathcal{O}^{-1}(\mathring{\nabla}\mathcal{O})\mathfrak{a},\epsilon)^*$, if we replace partial by Levi-Civita covariant derivatives and subtract the two corresponding Christoffel terms. We arrive at

$$-\delta_{\epsilon}\mathfrak{a}^{k} = \left(g(\mathcal{O}^{-1}(\mathring{\nabla}\mathcal{O})\mathfrak{a}, \epsilon)^{*} - \Theta(\operatorname{id} - \operatorname{id} \otimes *)(\mathring{\nabla}_{DX}\mathcal{O})\epsilon - \mathring{\nabla}^{*}\epsilon\right)^{k}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2}\left(-g^{km}\Gamma_{mu}^{r}\pi^{up} - \pi^{rm}\partial_{m}\pi^{pk} + \pi^{pm}\partial_{m}g^{kr} - \pi^{km}\Gamma_{mu}^{p}\pi^{ur}\right) \times$$

$$\times \left(g(1+\mathcal{O})\right)_{pn}\epsilon^{n}\left(g(1+\mathcal{O})\right)_{rq}\mathfrak{a}^{q}$$

$$-\left((1+\mathcal{O})^{-1}\right)^{k}{}_{r}\mathring{\nabla}_{dX}(1+\mathcal{O})^{r}{}_{n}\epsilon^{n} + \left((1+\mathcal{O})^{-1}\right)^{k}{}_{r}\mathring{\nabla}_{DX}\mathcal{O}^{r}{}_{n}\epsilon^{n} .$$
(A.12)

Finally, writing out the last three lines in components, after simplifying we get the contribution: $\Gamma_{mn}^k (1-\mathcal{O})^m{}_q \epsilon^q \mathfrak{a}^n$, which is the term needed to complete the variation of the fields $\mathfrak{a}^k \partial_k$, as we have the following variation from [23]:

$$\delta_{\epsilon} \mathfrak{a} = (\delta_{\epsilon} \mathfrak{a}^k + \Gamma_{mn}^k \mathfrak{a}^n (1 - \mathcal{O})^m{}_n \epsilon^n) \partial_k . \tag{A.13}$$

Thus, as a result we have given a proof of the following

Proposition A.1 The following variations lead to a symmetry of the Poisson sigma model without WZ term:

$$\delta_{\epsilon} X = (1 - \mathcal{O})\epsilon ,$$

$$\delta_{\epsilon} \mathfrak{a} = \mathring{\nabla}^* \epsilon - g(\mathcal{O}^{-1} \mathring{\nabla}(\mathcal{O})\mathfrak{a}, \epsilon)^* + \Theta(\mathrm{id} - \mathrm{id} \otimes *) \nabla_{\mathrm{DX}}(\mathcal{O})\epsilon .$$
(A.14)

B Structure functions for Dirac structures

In this brief appendix we collect some technical calculations related to the proof of the form of the gauge symmetries in the DSM case, as it appears in section 3.3.

We would like to prove the formula (3.33) for the structure functions of an arbitrary Dirac structure D parametrized with the orthogonal operator \mathcal{O} . First we recall that the bracket on the Dirac structure D is given by the standard Courant bracket twisted by the closed 3-form H, given by the formula (2.35). Local sections on D, parametrized as

$$v \oplus \eta = \left((\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^i_{\ k} \, \mathfrak{a}^k \partial_i + g_{ij} \, (\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O})^j_{\ k} \, \mathfrak{a}^k \mathrm{d}x^i \right) := \mathfrak{u}_i \mathfrak{a}^i \,, \tag{B.1}$$

should close under the bracket:

$$[\mathfrak{u}_i,\mathfrak{u}_j] = C_{ij}^k(X)\mathfrak{u}_k . \tag{B.2}$$

Combining (B.1) and (B.2), a long but straightforward calculation gives

$$(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{l}{}_{i}C^{i}{}_{jk} = (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{m}{}_{j}\partial_{m}(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{l}{}_{k} - (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{m}{}_{k}\partial_{m}(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{l}{}_{j},$$

$$(\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O})^{l}{}_{i}C^{i}{}_{jk} = \frac{1}{2}g^{li}g_{mn}(\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O})^{n}{}_{k}\partial_{i}(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{m}{}_{j} - \frac{1}{2}g^{li}g_{mn}(\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O})^{n}{}_{j}\partial_{i}(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{m}{}_{k}$$

$$-\frac{1}{2}g^{li}(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{m}{}_{j}\partial_{i}(g_{mn}(\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O})^{n}{}_{k}) + \frac{1}{2}g^{li}(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{m}{}_{j}\partial_{i}(g_{mn}(\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O})^{n}{}_{k}) + g^{li}(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{m}{}_{j}\partial_{m}(g_{in}(\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O})^{n}{}_{k}) - g^{li}(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{m}{}_{k}\partial_{m}(g_{in}(\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O})^{n}{}_{j}) + g^{li}H_{imn}(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{m}{}_{j}(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{n}{}_{k}.$$
(B.4)

The structure functions can be determined from the obvious identity

$$C_{jk}^{i} = \frac{1}{2} (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{i}{}_{l} C_{jk}^{l} + \frac{1}{2} (\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O})^{i}{}_{l} C_{jk}^{l} .$$
 (B.5)

This is facilitated by extending the partial derivatives to covariant derivatives and then collecting the appropriate terms. First, we rewrite (B.3) as

$$(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^l{}_i C^i_{jk} = -(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^m{}_j \mathring{\nabla}_m \mathcal{O}^l{}_k + (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^m{}_k \mathring{\nabla}_m \mathcal{O}^l{}_j + \mathcal{O}^n{}_k (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^l{}_i \Gamma^i_{jm} - \mathcal{O}^n{}_j (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^l{}_i \Gamma^i_{km} .$$
(B.6)

Similarly, eq. (B.4) may be rewritten as

$$(\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O})^{l}{}_{i}C^{i}{}_{jk} = -\frac{1}{2}g^{li}g_{mn}(\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O})^{n}{}_{[k}(\mathring{\nabla}_{i}\mathcal{O}^{m}{}_{j]} - \mathcal{O}^{p}{}_{j]}\Gamma^{m}{}_{pi} + \mathcal{O}^{m}{}_{p}\Gamma^{p}{}_{j]i})$$

$$-\frac{1}{2}g^{li}(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{m}{}_{[j}(g_{mn}\mathring{\nabla}_{i}\mathcal{O}^{n}{}_{k]} + g_{pn}(\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O})^{n}{}_{k]}\Gamma^{p}{}_{mi} + g_{mn}(\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O})^{n}{}_{p}\Gamma^{p}{}_{k]i}) +$$

$$+(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{m}{}_{[j}\mathring{\nabla}_{m}\mathcal{O}^{l}{}_{k]} + H^{l}{}_{mn}(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{m}{}_{j}(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{n}{}_{k} +$$

$$+g^{li}(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^{m}{}_{[j}(g_{pn}(\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O})^{n}{}_{k]}\Gamma^{p}{}_{im} + g_{in}(\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O})^{n}{}_{p}\Gamma^{p}{}_{k]m}) . \tag{B.7}$$

Now for the first term in the third line we substitute the corresponding expression from (B.6). Then several terms cancel and we obtain

$$C_{jk}^{l} = g^{li} g_{mn} \mathcal{O}_{[j}^{n} \mathring{\nabla}_{i} \mathcal{O}_{k]}^{m} - (\mathcal{O}_{j}^{i} \Gamma_{ki}^{l} - \mathcal{O}_{k}^{i} \Gamma_{ji}^{l}) + \frac{1}{2} H_{mn}^{l} (id - \mathcal{O})_{j}^{m} (id - \mathcal{O})_{k}^{n},$$
 (B.8)

and it is easy to see that this is the same as the desired expression (3.33).

Inverse of the operator $(id + \mathcal{O}) + (id - \mathcal{O})*$. A final technical point concerns the inverse of the operator $(id + \mathcal{O}) + (id - \mathcal{O})*$, which appears in the general form of the gauge symmetries for the DSM in (3.36). As discussed there, for Lorentzian world sheets this operator is

$$\Theta = \frac{1}{4}(id + \mathcal{O}^{-1}) + \frac{1}{4}(id - \mathcal{O}^{-1}) * .$$
(B.9)

Indeed, using $*^2 = 1$, the following calculation establishes the statement:

$$\begin{split} &((\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O}) + (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O})^*) \circ \left(\frac{1}{4}(\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O}^{-1}) + \frac{1}{4}(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O}^{-1})^*\right) = \\ &= \frac{1}{4}(\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O}) \circ (\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O}^{-1}) + \frac{1}{4}(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O}) \circ (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O}^{-1}) + \\ &+ \frac{1}{4}(\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O}) \circ (\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O}^{-1})^* + \frac{1}{4}(\mathrm{id} - \mathcal{O}) \circ (\mathrm{id} + \mathcal{O}^{-1})^* \\ &= \frac{1}{4}\left(2 + \mathcal{O} + \mathcal{O}^{-1}\right) + \frac{1}{4}\left(2 - \mathcal{O} - \mathcal{O}^{-1}\right) + \frac{1}{4}\left(\mathcal{O} - \mathcal{O}^{-1}\right)^* + \frac{1}{4}\left(\mathcal{O}^{-1} - \mathcal{O}\right)^* = 1, \end{split}$$
(B.10)

as required.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- [1] A. Weinstein, Groupoids: unifying internal and external symmetry, Notices Amer. Math. Soc. 43 (1996) 744 [math/9602220].
- [2] A. Chatzistavrakidis, A. Deser, L. Jonke and T. Strobl, Strings in singular space-times and their universal gauge theory, arXiv:1608.03250 [INSPIRE].
- [3] E. Witten, Non-Abelian bosonization in two-dimensions, Commun. Math. Phys. **92** (1984) 455 [INSPIRE].
- [4] K. Gawędzki and A. Kupiainen, G/h conformal field theory from gauged WZW model, Phys. Lett. B 215 (1988) 119 [INSPIRE].
- [5] K. Gawędzki and A. Kupiainen, Coset construction from functional integrals, Nucl. Phys. B 320 (1989) 625 [INSPIRE].
- [6] T.H. Buscher, A symmetry of the string background field equations, Phys. Lett. B 194 (1987) 59 [INSPIRE].
- [7] M. Roček and E.P. Verlinde, Duality, quotients and currents, Nucl. Phys. B 373 (1992) 630 [hep-th/9110053] [INSPIRE].
- [8] C.M. Hull and B.J. Spence, The gauged nonlinear σ model with Wess-Zumino term, Phys. Lett. **B 232** (1989) 204 [INSPIRE].
- [9] C.M. Hull and B.J. Spence, The geometry of the gauged σ-model with Wess-Zumino term, Nucl. Phys. B 353 (1991) 379 [INSPIRE].
- [10] E. Alvarez, L. Álvarez-Gaumé and Y. Lozano, On non-Abelian duality, Nucl. Phys. B 424 (1994) 155 [hep-th/9403155] [INSPIRE].
- [11] E. Alvarez, L. Álvarez-Gaumé and Y. Lozano, A canonical approach to duality transformations, Phys. Lett. B 336 (1994) 183 [hep-th/9406206] [INSPIRE].
- [12] A. Kotov and T. Strobl, Gauging without initial symmetry, J. Geom. Phys. 99 (2016) 184 [arXiv:1403.8119] [INSPIRE].
- [13] A. Kotov, V. Salnikov and T. Strobl, 2d gauge theories and generalized geometry, JHEP 08 (2014) 021 [arXiv:1407.5439] [INSPIRE].

- [14] A. Kotov and T. Strobl, Curving Yang-Mills-Higgs gauge theories, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 085032 [arXiv:1510.07654] [INSPIRE].
- [15] A. Chatzistavrakidis, A. Deser and L. Jonke, T-duality without isometry via extended gauge symmetries of 2D σ-models, JHEP 01 (2016) 154 [arXiv:1509.01829] [INSPIRE].
- [16] A. Kotov and T. Strobl, Geometry on Lie algebroids I: compatible geometric structures on the base, arXiv:1603.04490 [INSPIRE].
- [17] M. Bojowald, A. Kotov and T. Strobl, Lie algebroid morphisms, Poisson σ-models and off-shell closed gauge symmetries, J. Geom. Phys. 54 (2005) 400 [math/0406445] [INSPIRE].
- [18] T. Strobl, Algebroid Yang-Mills theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 93 (2004) 211601 [hep-th/0406215] [INSPIRE].
- [19] R.L. Fernandes and M. Crainic, Lectures on integrability of Lie brackets, Geom. Topol. Monogr. 17 (2011) 1 [math/0611259].
- [20] J.M. Figueroa-O'Farrill and S. Stanciu, Gauged Wess-Zumino terms and equivariant cohomology, Phys. Lett. B 341 (1994) 153 [hep-th/9407196] [INSPIRE].
- [21] E. Plauschinn, T-duality revisited, JHEP 01 (2014) 131 [arXiv:1310.4194] [INSPIRE].
- [22] E. Plauschinn, On T-duality transformations for the three-sphere, Nucl. Phys. B 893 (2015) 257 [arXiv:1408.1715] [INSPIRE].
- [23] A. Kotov, P. Schaller and T. Strobl, *Dirac* σ -models, *Commun. Math. Phys.* **260** (2005) 455 [hep-th/0411112] [INSPIRE].
- [24] V. Salnikov and T. Strobl, Dirac σ -models from gauging, JHEP 11 (2013) 110 [arXiv:1311.7116] [INSPIRE].
- [25] M. Gualtieri, Generalized complex geometry, DPhil thesis, Oxford University, Oxford U.K. (2003) [math/0401221] [INSPIRE].
- [26] M. Gualtieri, Generalized Kähler geometry, Commun. Math. Phys. 331 (2014) 297 [INSPIRE].
- [27] T. Courant, Dirac manifolds, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 319 (1990) 631.
- [28] N. Ikeda, Two-dimensional gravity and nonlinear gauge theory, Annals Phys. 235 (1994) 435 [hep-th/9312059] [INSPIRE].
- [29] P. Schaller and T. Strobl, Poisson structure induced (topological) field theories, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 9 (1994) 3129 [hep-th/9405110] [INSPIRE].
- [30] C. Klimčík and T. Strobl, WZW-Poisson manifolds, J. Geom. Phys. 43 (2002) 341 [math/0104189] [INSPIRE].
- [31] P. Severa and A. Weinstein, Poisson geometry with a 3 form background, Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 144 (2001) 145 [math/0107133] [INSPIRE].
- [32] A. Chatzistavrakidis, L. Jonke and O. Lechtenfeld, Dirac structures on nilmanifolds and coexistence of fluxes, Nucl. Phys. B 883 (2014) 59 [arXiv:1311.4878] [INSPIRE].
- [33] M.J. Duff, Duality rotations in string theory, Nucl. Phys. B 335 (1990) 610 [INSPIRE].
- [34] A. Chatzistavrakidis, Non-isometric T-duality from gauged σ -models, arXiv:1604.03739 [INSPIRE].
- [35] C. Klimčík, Poisson-Lie T duality, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 46 (1996) 116 [hep-th/9509095]
 [INSPIRE].

- [36] C. Klimčík and P. Ševera, Dual non-Abelian duality and the Drinfeld double, Phys. Lett. B 351 (1995) 455 [hep-th/9502122] [INSPIRE].
- [37] K. Sfetsos, Canonical equivalence of nonisometric σ-models and Poisson-Lie T duality, Nucl. Phys. B 517 (1998) 549 [hep-th/9710163] [INSPIRE].
- [38] P. Ševera, Poisson-Lie T-duality and Courant algebroids, Lett. Math. Phys. 105 (2015) 1689 [arXiv:1502.04517] [INSPIRE].
- [39] A.A. Tseytlin, Duality symmetric closed string theory and interacting chiral scalars, Nucl. Phys. B 350 (1991) 395 [INSPIRE].
- [40] W. Siegel, Two vierbein formalism for string inspired axionic gravity, Phys. Rev. **D** 47 (1993) 5453 [hep-th/9302036] [INSPIRE].
- [41] W. Siegel, Superspace duality in low-energy superstrings, Phys. Rev. **D** 48 (1993) 2826 [hep-th/9305073] [INSPIRE].
- [42] C.M. Hull, A geometry for non-geometric string backgrounds, JHEP 10 (2005) 065 [hep-th/0406102] [INSPIRE].
- [43] C.M. Hull, Global aspects of T-duality, gauged σ -models and T-folds, JHEP 10 (2007) 057 [hep-th/0604178] [INSPIRE].
- [44] D.S. Berman, N.B. Copland and D.C. Thompson, Background field equations for the duality symmetric string, Nucl. Phys. B 791 (2008) 175 [arXiv:0708.2267] [INSPIRE].
- [45] D.S. Berman and D.C. Thompson, Duality symmetric strings, dilatons and O(d, d) effective actions, Phys. Lett. B 662 (2008) 279 [arXiv:0712.1121] [INSPIRE].
- [46] D. Mylonas, P. Schupp and R.J. Szabo, Membrane σ-models and quantization of non-geometric flux backgrounds, JHEP **09** (2012) 012 [arXiv:1207.0926] [INSPIRE].
- [47] A. Chatzistavrakidis, L. Jonke and O. Lechtenfeld, σ -models for genuinely non-geometric backgrounds, JHEP 11 (2015) 182 [arXiv:1505.05457] [INSPIRE].
- [48] I. Bakas, D. Lüst and E. Plauschinn, Towards a world-sheet description of doubled geometry in string theory, arXiv:1602.07705 [INSPIRE].
- [49] L. Freidel, R.G. Leigh and D. Minic, Metastring theory and modular space-time, JHEP 06 (2015) 006 [arXiv:1502.08005] [INSPIRE].